RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 03-13-2017

IN SUPREME COURT COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2015AP450-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

ADAM M. BLACKMAN,

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS REVERSING AN ORDER GRANTING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR FOND DU LAC COUNTY, THE HONORABLE GARY SHARPE, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MICHAEL C. SANDERS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030550

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Under Wisconsin's implied consent law, all persons who operate a motor vehicle on a Wisconsin highway are deemed to have consented when a law enforcement officer requests a sample of blood, breath, or urine for testing. When an officer requested a blood sample Blackman agreed, and did not withdraw his implied consent. Was Blackman's consent sufficient to authorize the taking of a blood sample for testing?

The circuit court and court of appeals both implicitly concluded that the consent Blackman impliedly gave by operating a motor vehicle on a Wisconsin highway was insufficient to authorize a blood draw. Both courts therefore analyzed Blackman's submission to the officer's request for a blood sample as a question of whether it constituted "actual" rather than implied consent.

2. When a person refuses a request for a blood sample under Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(ar), a law enforcement officer may arrest the person under § 343.305(3)(a). The officer then may again request a sample, and if the person refuses, the officer prepares a notice of intent to revoke the person's operating privilege. Was Blackman coerced into agreeing to provide a blood sample when an officer told him that if he refused a request for a sample under § 343.305(3)(ar), his operating privilege would be revoked?

The circuit court and court of appeals both concluded that Blackman was properly informed that if he refused, his operating privilege would be revoked.

3. Wisconsin Stat. § 343.305(3)(ar)2. authorizes a law enforcement officer to request a sample from a person involved in an accident resulting in death or great bodily harm if the officer has probable cause to believe the person violated a traffic law. A law enforcement officer knew that Blackman was involved in an

accident that resulted in great bodily harm, and had probable cause to believe Blackman violated a traffic law. Did the officer unconstitutionally coerce Blackman into agreeing to provide a sample by first telling Blackman that the department takes a blood sample when there is a serious crash?

The circuit court and court of appeals both concluded that the officer did not coerce Blackman into agreeing to provide a sample.

4. A person who refuses a request for a sample under § 343.305(3)(ar), and then under § 343.305(3)(a), is subject to revocation of his or her operating privilege. But a person who then timely requests a refusal hearing under § 343.305(9) could prevail and have the revocation rescinded. Does the fact that a person could prevail at a refusal hearing render § 343.305(3)(ar) unconstitutional?

The circuit court did not address this issue. The court of appeals concluded that § 343.305(3)(ar) is constitutional.

5. The good faith exception to the exclusionary rule applies when an officer acts in good faith reliance on a statute, even if the statute is later found to be unconstitutional. The officer in this case relied on §§ 343.305(3)(ar) and (4) in requesting a sample and explaining the implied consent law to Blackman. If this Court were to find the statute unconstitutional, would the good faith exception apply?

The circuit court did not address this issue. The court of appeals ordered briefing on the applicability of the good faith exception, but then did not address the issue in its decision.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

By granting review, this Court has indicated that oral argument and publication are appropriate.

SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State has charged Adam M. Blackman with reckless driving causing great bodily harm, injury by intoxicated use of a vehicle, injury by use of a vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration, operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant (OWI), and operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration (PAC). (13.) Blackman moved to suppress the results of a test of his blood conducted under Wisconsin's implied consent law. (19.) The circuit court, the Honorable Gary Sharpe, presiding, granted the motion, concluding that Blackman's consent to a blood draw was coerced. (23:5.) The State appealed, and the court of appeals reversed in a published decision. *State v. Blackman*, 2016 WI App 69, 371 Wis. 2d 635, 886 N.W.2d 94. This Court then granted Blackman's petition for review.

SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENT OF FACTS

A car that Blackman was driving and a bicycle that S.R.K. was riding collided, and the bicyclist suffered extremely serious injuries. (1:1–2.) Fond Du Lac County Sheriff's Deputy John Abler arrived to the scene and a witness told him that the bicycle hit Blackman's car, and the rider was thrown over the car. (35:7.) The bicyclist's injuries included "a mandibular fracture, fractures to both forearms, rib fracture, sinus fracture, a C6 vertebrae fracture, liver laceration," as well as a "lung contusion, [and] a subdural hemorrhaging brain bleed." (35:24.)

Deputy Abler testified at the suppression hearing that he believed that Blackman violated a traffic law by turning left without yielding to oncoming traffic. (36:5–6.) Deputy Abler also testified that he did not initially have reason to believe that Blackman was under the influence of intoxicants. (36:6.)

Deputy Abler read the Informing the Accused form to Blackman and requested that Blackman submit to a blood draw under the implied consent law. (36:7–8.) Blackman submitted (36:7–9), and a test of his blood revealed an alcohol concentration of .10 (35:8).¹

The State charged Blackman with reckless driving causing great bodily harm, injury by intoxicated use of a vehicle, injury by use of a vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration, and OWI and PAC, both as first offenses. (13.) He moved to suppress the results of the test of his blood on three grounds. (19.) Blackman argued that he was coerced into providing a blood sample because Deputy Abler improperly invoked the implied consent law. (19:2–4.) Blackman also argued that Deputy Abler misinformed him that he faced revocation of his operating privilege if he refused chemical testing § 343.305(3)(ar), but he really faced only arrest under § 343.305(3)(a), not revocation. (19:4–8.) Blackman also argued that if the implied consent law applied to him, and if his consent was valid, § 343.305(3)(ar) is unconstitutional, both facially and as applied to him. (19:8-13.)

After a hearing (36), the circuit court rejected the first two arguments Blackman made in his motion. The court

¹ Deputy Abler testified that the blood test result was .10. (35:8.) The criminal complaint indicates that the result was .104. (1:2.)

concluded that § 343.305(3)(ar)(2) is "part of and governed by the implied consent law." (23:2.) The court agreed that an officer is not authorized to issue a notice of intent to revoke when a person refuses to submit to a request for a sample under § 343.305(3)(ar), but it noted that the officer can arrest the person and then request a sample under § 343.305(3)(a), and if the person refuses, the officer can issue a notice of intent to revoke. (23:3.) The court concluded that the officer did not mislead Blackman "because the potential for revocation was ultimately available through section (3)(a) if the refusal continued." (23:3.) The court did not address Blackman's argument that § 343.305(3)(ar) is unconstitutional.

The circuit court granted Blackman's motion to suppress on a different ground, concluding that Blackman's consent to a blood draw was coerced because he was told that if he refused, his operating privilege would be revoked. (23:4–5.) The court concluded that a revocation for a refusal under § 343.305(3)(ar) would be "statutorily unenforceable" because the issues at a refusal hearing would include whether the officer had probable cause to arrest for an OWI-related offense, and whether the person was arrested for an OWI-related offense. (23:4–5.)

The State appealed, and the court of appeals reversed in a published decision. The court of appeals concluded that Blackman gave implied consent to a test by driving on a Wisconsin highway, and then gave actual consent when the officer requested a sample. Blackman, 371 Wis. 2d 635, $\P\P$ 10–11. The court also concluded that Blackman was

properly informed that if he withdrew his consent and refused to submit to a blood draw, his operating privilege would have been revoked. Id. ¶ 12. This Court granted Blackman's petition for review.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The circuit court granted Blackman's motion to suppress the results of a test of his blood because it concluded that Blackman's consent to the blood draw was coerced. The court reasoned that Blackman was told that if he refused to provide a sample his operating privilege would be revoked, but due to a "disconnect" in various parts of the implied consent law, the revocation would have been statutorily unenforceable. The court of appeals reversed, concluding that Blackman's consent was not coerced. The court reasoned that Blackman was properly informed that if he refused a request for a blood sample his operating privilege would be revoked, and he chose to give actual consent to a blood draw.

The State maintains that the court of appeals decision was correct, but not because Blackman gave actual consent to a blood draw. Blackman, like every person who drives on a Wisconsin highway, is deemed to consent to a law enforcement officer's request for a sample for testing. Wisconsin Stat. § 343.305(3)(ar)2. provides that an officer may request a sample from a driver who is involved in an accident resulting in death or great bodily harm if the officer has reason to believe the driver violated a traffic law. It is undisputed that both conditions were satisfied in this case. Under the plain language of the implied consent law, by driving on a Wisconsin highway, Blackman consented to the blood draw. It is also undisputed that Blackman did not withdraw his consent. The issues in this case don't concern whether Blackman consented to the blood draw. They

concern whether Blackman was properly informed of the consequences of refusing the officer's request for a sample, and withdrawing the consent he had already given.

The officer in this case read the Informing the Accused form to Blackman, and told him that if he refused to provide a sample, his operating privilege would be revoked. As the court of appeals concluded, this information was correct. If Blackman had refused, the officer would have arrested him and requested a sample under Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(a). If Blackman had refused again, his operating privilege would have been revoked. Like any driver who refuses, Blackman would have had a statutory right to a refusal hearing, and he may have prevailed at the hearing and had the revocation rescinded. But an officer is not required to inform a person of the procedure at a refusal hearing until the officer issues the notice of intent to revoke—after the person refuses. Here, the officer gave Blackman correct information. Blackman chose not to commit an unlawful act by refusing and withdrawing his implied consent. Blackman instead chose to affirm his implied consent and submit to a test.

Blackman voluntarily consented to a blood draw by driving on a Wisconsin highway. His decision to affirm his implied consent and submit to a blood draw was not coerced because he was properly informed of his choice and of the consequences of refusing. For the same reason, Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(ar) is constitutional on its face and as applied to Blackman.

- I. Blackman was not coerced into consenting to a blood draw when the officer requested a sample, because he had already consented by operating a motor vehicle on a Wisconsin highway, and did not withdraw that consent.
 - A. All persons who operate a motor vehicle on a highway in Wisconsin impliedly consent to submit to a proper request for a sample for testing.

Wisconsin's implied consent provides that any person who operates a motor vehicle on a Wisconsin highway consents to submit a sample when a law enforcement officer properly requests a sample under the implied consent law. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(2).² This Court explained the general workings of the implied consent law in *State v. Anagnos*, 2012 WI 64, 341 Wis. 2d 576, 815 N.W.2d 675:

² Wisconsin Stat. § 343.305(2) provides, in relevant part, as follows:

⁽²⁾ IMPLIED CONSENT. Any person who . . . operates a motor vehicle upon the public highways of this state . . . is deemed to have given consent to one or more tests of his or her breath, blood or urine, for the purpose of determining the presence or quantity in his or her blood or breath, of alcohol, controlled substances, controlled substance analogs or other drugs . . . when requested to do so by a law enforcement officer under sub. (3) (a) or (am) or when required to do so under sub. (3) (ar) or (b). Any such tests shall be administered upon the request of a law enforcement officer.

Wisconsin Statute § 343.305, known as the implied consent law, provides that any person who drives on the public highways of this state is deemed to have consented to chemical testing upon request by a law enforcement officer. Upon arrest of a person for violation of an OWI-related statute, a law enforcement officer may request the person to provide a blood, breath, or urine sample for chemical testing. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(a). At the time of the request for a sample, the officer must read to the person certain information set forth in § 343.305(4), referred to as the Informing the Accused form.

If the person submits to chemical testing and the test reveals the presence of a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance or a prohibited alcohol concentration, the person is subjected to an administrative suspension of his operating privileges. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(7)(a)...

If, on the other hand, the person refuses to submit to chemical testing, he is informed of the State's intent to immediately revoke his operating privileges. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9)(a).

$Id. \P\P 22-24.$

The provision of the implied consent at issue in this case, § 343.305(3)(ar)2., applies when a person operates a motor vehicle that is involved in an accident resulting in death or great bodily harm, and a law enforcement officer has reason to believe the person violated a traffic law.³ The

³ Wisconsin Stat. § 343.305(3)(ar)2. provides, in relevant part, as follows:

^{2.} If a person is the operator of a vehicle that is involved in an accident that causes the death of or great bodily harm to any person and the law enforcement officer has reason to believe that the person violated any state or local traffic law, the

officer reads the Informing the Accused form to the person and requests a sample. If the person submits to the request, the officer administers the taking of a sample. If the person the officer refuses. mav arrest the person under § 343.305(3)(a), and then request sample under § 343.305(3)(a). If the person refuses again, the officer prepares a notice of intent to revoke. A person has no constitutional or statutory right to refuse a request for a sample. The choice is to submit and affirm the consent the person has already given, or refuse and withdraw that consent, and face penalties.

This Court has long recognized that under the implied consent law, a person gives consent to chemical testing by his or her conduct, either by obtaining a driver's license, or by driving on a Wisconsin highway. In *Scales v. State*, 64 Wis. 2d 485, 494, 219 N.W.2d 286 (1974), this Court concluded that the implied consent law "requires that a licensed driver, by applying for an[d] receiving a license, consent[s] to submit to chemical tests for intoxication under statutorily determined circumstances."

In *State v. Neitzel*, 95 Wis. 2d 191, 201, 289 N.W.2d 828 (1980), this Court explained that by applying for a driver's license, a person has "waived whatever right he may otherwise have had to refuse to submit to chemical testing." This Court added, "It is assumed that, at the time a driver made application for his license, he was fully cognizant of his rights and was deemed to know that, in the event he was

officer may request the operator to provide one or more samples of his or her breath, blood, or urine for the purpose specified under sub. (2). . . . If a person refuses to take a test under this subdivision, he or she may be arrested under par. (a). later arrested for drunken driving, he had consented, by his operator's application, to chemical testing under the circumstances envisaged by the statute." *Id*.

In *State v. Nordness*, 128 Wis. 2d 15, 28, 381 N.W.2d 300 (1986), this Court noted that the implied consent law "declares legislative policy, namely, that those who drive consent to chemical testing."

In State v. Zielke, 137 Wis. 2d 39, 403 N.W.2d 427 (1987), this Court recognized that "consent is implied as a condition of the privilege of operating a motor vehicle upon state highways." Id. at 48 (citing Neitzel, 95 Wis. 2d at 201). "By implying consent, the statute removes the right of a driver to lawfully refuse a chemical test." Id. (citing State v. Crandall, 133 Wis. 2d 251, 255–57, 394 N.W.2d 905 (1986)). "The implied consent law attempts to overcome the possibility of refusal by the threat of an adverse consequence: license revocation." Id. (citing Neitzel, 95 Wis. 2d at 203–05). "The refusal procedures are triggered when an arrested driver refuses to honor his or her previously given consent implied by law to submit to chemical tests for intoxication." Id. at 47–48.

In Washburn County v. Smith, 2008 WI 23, ¶ 40 n.36, 308 Wis. 2d 65, 746 N.W.2d 243, this Court recognized a defendant was deemed to have consented to a requested test "when the defendant decided to drive upon a Wisconsin highway."

In these and many more cases, this Court has recognized that drivers in Wisconsin give consent to a request for a sample for chemical testing by their conduct, either by applying for or receiving a driver's license, or by driving on a Wisconsin highway, long before a law enforcement officer requests a sample. When an officer

requests a sample the issue is not whether the person will consent, but whether the person will submit, and affirm the consent he or she has already given, or refuse, and withdraw that consent. "Put simply, consent to testing had already been given" by driving on a Wisconsin highway, "and it remained valid until withdrawn." *State v. Howes*, 2017 WI 18, ¶ 75, __ Wis. 2d __, _ N.W.2d __ (Gableman, J., concurring).

B. State v. Padley did not overrule this Court's cases and establish that actual consent, rather than implied consent, is required to authorize the taking of a blood sample under the implied consent law.

In the current case, the court of appeals recognized that Blackman gave consent to a blood draw by operating a motor vehicle on a Wisconsin highway, stating: "The fundamental fact is that under the implied consent law, Blackman, by driving on the highway, impliedly consented to submitting a sample of his blood under the facts presented." *Blackman*, 371 Wis. 2d 635, ¶ 11. But the court of appeals concluded that Blackman's implied consent did not authorize the taking of a sample of his blood, breath, or urine. Instead, a sample may be taken only if a person gives "actual consent" when the officer requests a sample. *Id.* ¶¶ 10–11.

The court of appeals based its conclusion that only "actual consent" can authorize a blood draw in *State v. Padley*, 2014 WI App 65, 354 Wis. 2d 545, 849 N.W.2d 867. In *Padley*, the court of appeals concluded that Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(ar)2, the same part of the implied consent law at issue in this case, is constitutional. *Id.* ¶¶ 48, 54, 60.

The court of appeals in Padley also addressed the operation of the implied consent law, to clarify "confusion" with "how the implied consent law works." Id. ¶ 25. The court distinguished between the "implied consent" a person gives by operating a motor vehicle in Wisconsin, and "actual consent" a person gives when a law enforcement officer requests a sample. Id. ¶ 26. The court rejected the proposition that "implied consent' alone can 'serve as a valid exception to the warrant requirement." Id. ¶ 37. It stated that only "actual consent" when an officer requests a sample, not "implied consent," authorizes the taking of a sample under the implied consent law. Id. ¶ 40. The court explained that:

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