RECEIVED

02-08-2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Appellate Case No. 2015 AP 450-CR (Fond du Lac County Case No. 13 CF 659)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

-VS-

ADAM M. BLACKMAN,

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER

On Appeal from an Order to Suppress Entered in Fond du Lac County Circuit Court, The Honorable Gary Sharpe, Presiding

Respectfully Submitted:

Lubar & Lanning, LLC 2100 Gateway Court, Suite 200 West Bend, WI 53095 Telephone: (262) 334-9900

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE IMPLIED CONSENT LAW—AS IT RELATES TO DRIVERS WHO ARE NOT UNDER ARREST, AND ARE NOT SUSPECTED OF BEING IMPAIRED—UNCONSTITUTIONALLY COERCES SUCH DRIVERS INTO TAKING SUSPICIONLESS AND WARRANTLESS BLOOD TESTS BY MISINFORMING THEM.

Citizens have the right to be free from "unreasonable

searches and seizures."8 State v. Richardson, 156 Wis. 2d 128,

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution provides:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons,

⁸ The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides:

137, 456 N.W.2d 830 (1990)(citing the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I sec. 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution). "The overriding function of the Fourth Amendment is to protect personal privacy and dignity against unwarranted intrusion by the State."⁹ *Schmerber v. California*, 384 U.S. 757, 767 (1966).

A blood draw conducted at the direction of a police officer is a search subject to the Fourth Amendment requirement that all searches must be reasonable. *State v. Padley*, 2014 WI App 65, ¶23, 354 Wis. 2d 545, 849 N.W.2d 867. In fact, "such an invasion of bodily integrity implicates an individual's 'most personal and deep-rooted expectations of

houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures shall not be violated; and no warrant shall issue but upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be search and the persons or things to be seized.

⁹ Generally, Wisconsin courts interpret Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution in accordance with the United States Supreme Court's interpretation of the Fourth Amendment. *State v. Phillips*, 218 Wis. 2d 180, 195, 577 N.W.2d 794 (1998).

privacy." *Missouri v. McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. 1552, 1558 (quoting *Winston v. Lee*, 470 U.S. 753, 760 (1985)).

Warrantless searches are per se unreasonable, subject to a few "well-delineated" exceptions.¹⁰ *Padley*, 2014 WI App at ¶8 (citation omitted). "When the purported legality of a warrantless search is based on the consent of the defendant, that consent must be freely and voluntarily given." *State v. Johnson*, 2007 WI 32, ¶16, 229 Wis. 2d 675, 729 N.W.2d 182 (citing *State v. Phillips*, 218 Wis. 2d 180, 197, 577 N.W.2d 794 (1998)).

The State bears "the burden of proving that consent was, in fact, freely and voluntarily given." *Bumper v. North Carolina*, 391 U.S. 543, 548, 88 S.Ct. 1788, 20 L.Ed.2d 797 (1968). Further, the State must satisfy that burden by clear and convincing evidence. *State v. Artic*, 2010 WI 83, ¶32, 327

¹⁰ In the present case, the only exception to the warrant requirement argued by the State before the circuit court, was that Mr. Blackman consented to the blood test. *See* (R36 at 20-22.)

Wis. 2d 392, 786 N.W.2d 430 (citing *Phillips*, 218 Wis. 2d at 197).

"Acquiescence to an unlawful assertion of police authority is not equivalent to consent." *Johnson*, 2007 WI at ¶16 (citing *Bumper*.) In other words, police cannot assert that they have a right to conduct a warrantless search, or indicate that they are going to search absent legal authority to do so. *Id.* As this Court has explained, "orderly submission to law enforcement officers who, in effect, incorrectly represent that they have the authority to search and seize property, is not knowing, intelligent and voluntary consent under the Fourth Amendment." *Padley*, 2014 WI App at ¶62 (quoting *State v. Giebel*, 2006 WI App 239, ¶18, 297 Wis. 2d 446, 724 N.W.2d 402.).

For example, in *Birchfield v. North Dakota*, the Supreme Court recently held that a suspected drunk driver's consent to a warrantless blood test must be reevaluated in the lower court because there was a "partial inaccuracy of the officer's advisory" to the suspect. *Birchfield v. North Dakota*,¹¹ 579 U.S. , 136 S. Ct. 2160, Slip op. at 38 (2016).

In *Birchfield*, Beylund, one of the defendants, consented to a warrantless blood test after police told him that refusing the test "in these circumstances is itself a crime." *Id.* at Slip op. 12. Beylund argued that his consent to take the warrantless blood test was coerced by the officer's warning that refusing to consent was a crime. *Id.* The lower courts had all upheld North Dakota's implied consent law reasoning that the advisory was not misleading—because it truthfully related the penalties for refusal. *Id.*

¹¹ The *Birchfield* court began its review by "considering whether the searches demanded in these cases were consistent with the Fourth Amendment." *Birchfield*, Slip op. at 13. The *Birchfield* Court then noted that the demanded warrantless searches were sought "categorically" and thus, not on a case-by-case basis, as required in of *Schmerber v. California*, and *Missouri v. McNeely. Birchfield*, Slip op. at 16, 37 (leaving the prosecution to provide the case-specific information needed to justify a search under the exigent circumstance exception). The *Birchfield* court next found that warrantless blood searches cannot be justified as a search-incident-to-arrest. *Id.* at 36. Lastly, *Birchfield* decided, as discussed above, that "motorists cannot be deemed to have consented to submit to a blood test on pain of committing a criminal offense" – leaving the possibility of actual consent to justify the warrantless blood test. *Id.* at 37.

The *Birchfield* court, however, noted that "[t]here must be a limit to the consequences to which motorists may be deemed to have consented by virtue of a decision to drive on public roads." *Id.* at 36. The *Birchfield* court then concluded that "motorists cannot be deemed to have consented to submit to a blood test on pain of committing a criminal offense." *Id.* at 37.

Accordingly, the *Birchfield* court stated:

The North Dakota Supreme Court held that Beylund's consent was voluntary on the erroneous assumption that the State could permissibly compel both blood and breath tests.¹² Because voluntariness of consent to a search must be "determined from the totality of all the circumstances, [] we leave it to the state court on remand to reevaluate Beylund's consent given the partial inaccuracy of the officer's advisory.

Id. at 38 (citations omitted).

Thus, *Birchfield* stands for the proposition that consent cannot be determined by the presence in an implied consent law alone. Rather, one must always consider the totality of

¹² *Birchfield* held that warrantless breath tests can be required as a search incident to an arrest, and thus, refusing such a breath test can be punished criminally. *Id.* at 37-38.

the circumstances when determining whether consent was voluntarily given. *See Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 212, 233, 93 S. Ct. 2041, 36 L.Ed.2d (1973).

In this case, the circuit court found that Mr. Blackman's consent was unconstitutionally coerced due to the wording and structure of the implied consent law alone and suppressed Mr. Blackman's suspicionless and warrantless blood test. *See* (R23 at 4-5.) The circuit court was correct.

<u>A.</u> <u>The Implied Consent Law</u>.

Generally, Wisconsin's implied consent law is used to obtain warrantless chemical tests for intoxication after a driver has been arrested for suspicion of impaired driving. *See generally* Section 343.305.

However, Wisconsin's implied consent law has evolved to encompass more and more driving situations, including, as the Court of Appeals stated below, to fact patterns which do not require law enforcement to suspect a driver of impairment from alcohol or controlled substances.¹³ (Blackman, Slip op. at \P 4.)(citing Section 343.305(3)(ar)2). In this case Mr. Blackman was asked to submit to a suspicionless and warrantless blood test under Section 343.305(3)(ar)2. (R23 at 1.)

Unfortunately, the Court of Appeals below, mistakenly believed that a driver in Mr. Blackman's position would have their driver's license revoked for refusing a chemical test requested under Section 343.305(3)(ar)2. *See* (*Blackman*, Slip op. at ¶¶1, 4, 16.) Specifically, the Court of Appeals stated:

Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(ar)2, which provides for the taking of a blood, breath, or urine sample from a driver involved in an accident that causes death or great bodily harm to a person when an officer has evidence that the driver violated a traffic law. . . If a driver refuses to take a test, his or her license is statutorily revoked. Sec. 343.305(9)(a).

Blackman, Slip op. at ¶4 (emphasis added).

¹³ This Court is currently considering whether the portions of Wisconsin's implied consent law which authorizes warrantless blood draws from unconscious drivers violates the Fourth Amendment. *State v. Howes*, 2014AP1870-CR.

Rather, Section 343.305(3)(ar)2 states, in part:

If a person is the operator of a vehicle that is involved in an accident that causes the death or great bodily harm¹⁴ to any person and the law enforcement officer has any reason to believe that the person violated any state or local traffic law, ¹⁵ the officer may request the operator to provide one or more samples of his breath, blood or urine.... If a person refuses to take a test under this subdivision, he or she may be arrested under par. (a).

Wisconsin Statute § 343.305(3)(ar)2 (emphasis added).

Mr. Blackman, however, was not informed that if he

refused to take the test, that the officer "may" arrest him.

Rather, Mr. Blackman was read the Informing the Accused

form which told him, in relevant part:

If you refuse to take any test that this agency requests, your operating privilege will be revoked and you will be subject to other penalties.

Wisconsin Statute § 343.305(4); see also (R36 at 7,12-13.).¹⁶

16 Section 343.305(4) states as follows:

¹⁴ Mr. Blackman does not dispute that the bicyclist sustained great bodily harm. (R23 at 1.); (R36 at 15.)

¹⁵ Deputy Abler testified that he believed that Mr. Blackman failed to yield while making a left turn. (R36 at 6.) Mr. Blackman does not dispute that the deputy "had reason to believe" that Mr. Blackman violated a traffic law. Likewise, the circuit court found that "the officer concluded that the defendant failed to yield the right of way to the bicyclist." (R23 at 1.)

In other words, for people in Mr. Blackman's position,

the Informing the Accused form does not accurately inform them of their precise legal situation.¹⁷

INFORMATION. At the time that a chemical test specimen is requested under sub. (3)(a), (am) or (ar), the law enforcement officer shall read the following to the person from whom the test specimen is requested:

[&]quot;You have either been arrested for an offense that involves driving or operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol or drugs, or both, or you are the operating of a vehicle that was involved in an accident that caused the death of, great bodily harm to, or substantial bodily harm to a person, or you are suspected of driving or being on duty time with respect to a commercial motor vehicle after consuming an intoxicating beverage.

This law enforcement agency now wants to test one or more samples of your breath, blood or urine to determine the concentration of alcohol or drugs in your system. If any test shows more alcohol in your system than the law permits while driving, your operating privilege will be suspended. If you refuse to take any test that this agency requests, your operating privilege will be revoked and you will be subject to other penalties. The test results or the fact that you refused testing can be used against you in court.

If you take all the requested tests, you may choose to take further tests. You may take the alternative test that this law enforcement agency provides free of charge. You also may have a test conducted by a qualified person of your choice at your expense. You, however, will have to make your own arrangements for that test.

If you have a commercial driver license or were operating a commercial motor vehicle, other consequences may result from positive test results or from refusing testing, such as being placed out of service or disqualified."

¹⁷ Thus, this case is distinguishable from cases cited by the State to the circuit court for the proposition that the implied consent law is not unreasonably coercive. *See e.g. State v. Wintlend*, 2002 WI App 314, 258 Wis. 2d 875, 655 N.W.2d 745; *Padley*, 2014 WI App 65.

Again, the Court of Appeals claimed that a driver in Mr. Blackman's position would have their driver's license revoked for refusing a chemical test requested under Section 343.305(3)(ar)2. See (Blackman, Slip op. at ¶4)(citing Section 343.305(9)(a)).

To the contrary, a driver only has their license revoked under Section 343.305(9)(a) after they have refused a chemical test requested under Section 343.305(3)(a). Specifically, Section 343.305(9)(a) states in relevant part:

If a person refuses to take a test under sub. (3)(a), the law enforcement officer shall immediately

Wintlend and *Padley*, all say that the Informing the Accused form does "not involve any deceit or trickery, but instead accurately informed [the suspected drunk driver] of his **precise legal situation**." *Wintlend*, 2002 WI App at ¶3(emphasis added); *see also Padley*, 2014 WI App at ¶72. These cases and this quote are cited numerous times in the State's Initial Court of Appeals' brief. (State's Initial br. at 7, 8, 26.)(also citing *Village of Little Chute v. Walitalo*, 2002 WI App 211, 256 Wis. 2d 1032, 659 N.W.2d 891.)

Walitalo, Wintlend and *Padley* can be further distinguished as they do not address the problem with the "disconnect" between Section 343.305(3)(ar)2 and the statutes governing refusal hearings. Specifically, *Walitalo* and *Wintlend* were decided before Section 343.305(3)(ar)2 was created by 2009 Wis. Act 163, effective March 10, 2010. Lastly, the *Padley* court did not address the "disconnect," because Ms. Padley, in part, failed to raise the issue before the circuit court. *Padley*, 2014 WI App ¶66 n.12.

prepare a notice of intent to revoke, by court order under sub. (10).

Thus, Mr. Blackman had correctly argued to the circuit court that "only a driver who has been lawfully arrested for a OWI-related incident is facing license revocation if they refuse." (R36 at 27.)

B. <u>Penalties for Refusing a Requested Test.</u>

Below are two columns pairing the implied consent statute provisions authorizing law enforcement to request a chemical test for intoxication with the statutory provision for a driver's license revocation and the holding of a refusing hearings on the alleged refusal, if any.

Request Authorized

Refusal Penalty

Section 343.305(3)(a):

Upon arrest of a person for violation of s. 346.63(1), (2m) or (5) or a local ordinance in conformity therewith, or... upon arrest subsequent to a refusal under par. (ar), a law enforcement officer may request the person to provide one or more samples of his or her breath, blood or urine for the purpose specified in sub. (2).

Section 343.305(9)(a):

If a person **refuses to take a test under sub.** (3)(a), the law enforcement officer shall immediately prepare a notice of intent to revoke, by court order under sub. (10)....

Request Authorized

Section 343.305(3)(am):

Prior to arrest, a law enforcement officer may request the person to provide one or more samples of his or her breath, blood, or urine for the purpose specified under sub. (2) whenever a law enforcement officer detects any presence of alcohol, a controlled substance, a controlled substance analog or other drug, or a combination thereof, on a person driving or operating or on duty time with respect to a commercial motor vehicle....

Section 343.305(3)(ar)2:¹⁸

If a person is the operator of a vehicle that is involved in an accident that causes the death or great bodily harm to any person and the law enforcement officer has any reason to believe that the person violated any state or local traffic law, the officer may request the operator to provide one or more samples of his breath, blood or urine.... If a person refuses to take a test under this subdivision, he or she may be arrested under par. (a).

Refusal Penalty

Section 343.305(9)(am):

If a person driving or operating or on duty time with respect to a commercial motor vehicle refuses a test under sub. (3)(am), the law enforcement officer shall immediately issue an out-of-service order to the person for the 24 hours after the refusal and notify the department in the manner prescribed by the department, and prepare a notice of intent to revoke, by court order under sub. (10)....

None, other than possible arrest.

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